California Senate Bill 743 Implementation Assistance Project: Case Studies on Using Vehicle Miles Traveled to Evaluate Transportation Impacts in CEQA

City of Woodland 2035 General Plan Update

Case Study

January 2020

The SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project was coordinated by the Urban Sustainability Accelerator, a joint program of the Toulan School of Urban Studies and Planning and the Institute for Sustainable Solutions at Portland State University

Participating Agencies

California Governor's Office of Planning and Research California State Transportation Agency California Department of Transportation Sacramento Area Council of Governments Southern California Association of Governments Metropolitan Transportation Commission San Diego Association of Governments San Joaquin Council of Governments California Association of Councils of Government

Acknowledgements

This project would not have been possible without the direction and advice provided by the project's Leadership Team, Technical Advisory Committee, and Legal Advisory Committee; the substantial funding and/or staff time contributed by various organizations; the presentations by experts at the four workshops and professional education program; the work by project contractors; and the efforts of project staff affiliated with Portland State University. All of these contributors to the project are listed in Appendix A.

We make special mention here of some of the most active participants: **Mike McKeever** (who initiated the project), former CEO of the Sacramento Area Council of Governments; **Chris Ganson** (a leading participant in every phase), with the California Governor's Office of Planning and Research; **Jeannie Lee** (who led the Legal Advisory Committee), also with the California Governor's Office of Planning and Research; **Kate White** with the California State Transportation Agency; **Bruce Griesenbeck** with the Sacramento Area Council of Governments; **Ping Chang** with the Southern California Association of Governments; **Ron Milam** at Fehr & Peers Transportation Consultants; and **Jamey Volker** at Volker Law Offices, and PhD candidate in Transportation Technology and Policy at UC Davis.

Many thanks also to the project team: **Robert Liberty**, Project Manager and **Judy Walton**, Project Coordinator, both with the Urban Sustainability Accelerator at Portland State University; **Lynn Peterson**, former Secretary of Transportation for Washington State (now President of the Metro Council of metropolitan Portland, Oregon); and finally the late **Sam Seskin**, nationally recognized transportation consultant.

Fregonese Associates assisted with preparation of communication materials and three case studies.

The analysis for this particular case study on Woodland's General Plan update was carried out by **Alex Steinberger** at Fregonese Associates with technical assistance from **Amy Lee** at the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG) as well as **Gordon Garry**, former transportation planner with SACOG. The study was enhanced by comments from **Steve Coyle** and **Cindy Norris** with the City of Woodland on the thresholds of significance and mitigation strategies.

Project Support

The project was made possible by financial contributions from:

- TransitCenter
- Southern California Association of Governments
- Sacramento Area Council of Governments
- California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)
- Metropolitan Transportation Commission
- Institute for Sustainable Solutions at Portland State University

In addition, the project was supported by in-kind donations of thousands of hours of staff time as well as facilities, travel expenses and meals by participating agencies and organizations, and by those who presented in the four workshops and final webinar.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Project Support	1
Case Study: City of Woodland 2035 General Plan Update	4
1. About the SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project	4
2. Woodland General Plan Update Project Description	5
(a) Project Overview	5
Reasons for selection as a case study	5
City of Woodland planning staff comments	6
(b) Project Details	6
Location	6
Existing conditions in the planning area	6
Project alternatives	7
3. CEQA Analysis	8
(a) Thresholds of Significance	8
Screening thresholds for transportation impacts	8
Numeric thresholds for transportation impacts	9
City of Woodland staff comments on thresholds of significance for VMT	
(b) Transportation Impact Analysis	
LOS-based impact analysis (CEQA pre-SB 743)	
VMT-based impact analysis (CEQA post-SB 743)	14
(c) Mitigation Measures	
LOS mitigation (CEQA pre-SB 743)	
VMT mitigation (CEQA post-SB 743)	21
City of Woodland staff comments on case study mitigation strategies	24
4. Insights and Policy Implications	25
(a) Implications for Policy Makers	25
(b) Technical Insights for Lead Agency Staff	26
Consistency in modeling for thresholds, impacts and mitigation	26
Integrating RTP/SCS and VMT target consistency into general plan updates	26
Context-sensitive thresholds	26
Extra-regional travel estimation and mitigation	26

Mitigation measures	27
Appendix A: Project Participants	
Appendix B: Glossary of Terms and Acronyms Used in Case Studies	
Appendix C: Response to Caltrans Comment on Proposed VMT Targets in DEIR	

Case Study: City of Woodland 2035 General Plan Update

1. About the SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project

This case study is one of five undertaken as part of the SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project: From Driving More to Driving Less, a collaboration among California state agencies and metropolitan planning organizations, consulting professionals and project staff (see names in Appendix A). The project was managed by the Urban Sustainability Accelerator at Portland State University.

The purpose of the project was to assist with the development and implementation of new Guidelines governing transportation impact analysis under CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act). These were being drafted to carry out the groundbreaking provisions of California Senate Bill 743, which fundamentally changed transportation impact analysis as part of CEQA compliance. The updated CEQA Guidelines were adopted in December 2018 during the course of this project.

The nationally important feature of SB 743 (passed in 2013) was the elimination of auto delay, level of service (LOS), and similar measures of traffic congestion or vehicular capacity as a basis for determining the significant transportation impacts of new projects. Charged with selecting a replacement metric and developing associated guidance, the Governor's Office of Planning and Research (OPR) selected Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) – i.e., the amount and distance of automobile travel attributable to a project – as the preferred CEQA transportation metric going forward.

That shift necessitated corresponding changes in how transportation impacts are to be mitigated – from such methods as widening roads or adding turn lanes to improve LOS standards, to measures such as increasing transit service or instituting parking fees to reduce project-generated VMT.

The five case studies that form the core of this project represent a sample of previously approved land use and transportation projects, selected by the project's leadership to highlight different topics in implementing OPR's updated guidelines and technical guidance being drafted at the time. Each case study draws on a project's environmental impact report (EIR) and related documents prepared under the former LOS maintenance standard as a basis for illustrating what a new, VMT-based transportation impact analysis would look like, pursuant to the updated CEQA statute, guidelines, and technical advisory.

You can find more details about the project on the website at <u>https://www.sb743.org</u>. This site includes other case studies, related workshops, and a resource library.

Disclaimer: The approach and technical methods used here are illustrations of how the new CEQA analysis can be approached; they are not endorsements of that approach by any of the participating governments or technical experts. Reasonable minds can and do differ regarding how to implement the CEQA guidelines. That was true even among the distinguished experts who contributed to these case studies. CEQA gives lead agencies significant discretion in how they undertake their CEQA responsibilities and these case studies illustrate ways in which that discretion can be exercised.

2. Woodland General Plan Update Project Description

(a) Project Overview

The City of Woodland's General Plan is the framework document within which decisions must be made on how to grow, provide public services and facilities, and protect and enhance the environment.¹ It is also the basis for all other planning efforts, such as specific plans, community plans, and redevelopment plans, which must be consistent with the General Plan.

The project for this case study is a proposed update to Woodland's General Plan, addressing long-term planning through 2035. The process of updating the plan began in 2012, and in 2016 a draft 2035 General Plan Update was made available.² That document and its associated EIR³ form the basis for this case study.⁴

The Draft 2035 General Plan Update considers two options, a South and East Alternative, under which growth and development through 2035 could occur within the designated "planning area" – the 12,781 acres within the Urban Limit Line established by Woodland voters in 2006. Neither Alternative would involve full buildout of the City's Planning Area through the planning horizon year of 2035 (DEIR, p. 2-9).

The Draft Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) for the Update⁵ not only evaluates the impact of the General Plan Update itself, but also an associated Draft 2035 Climate Action Plan (2035 CAP). The DEIR refers to the two documents collectively as the "Proposed Project." The analysis in the DEIR provides information for developing the final General Plan for adoption by City Council.⁶

Reasons for selection as a case study

The City of Woodland's 2035 General Plan Update was selected for a case study as an example of the obligation, under California Senate Bill 743, for general purpose units of government to demonstrate compliance with the law's requirements. As a general plan update, the project's planning horizon, scale, level of detail, EIR, and application of SB 743's provisions differ from the other four case studies in this SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project.

¹ The General Plan was prepared to fulfill State law requirements and follows the *General Plan Guidelines* adopted by OPR in 2017.

² <u>https://www.cityofwoodland.org/DocumentCenter/View/1480/Notice-of-Availability-of-the-Draft-General-Plan-Update-PDF</u>

³ EIR = "Environmental Impact Report." See Appendix B, Glossary, for definitions of terms and acronyms used in the case studies.

⁴ Note: The General Plan had been updated in 1996 and 2002 (technical update). In addition, there had been several project-driven amendments, and the Housing Element had been updated in 2013. (Source: <u>https://www.dailydemocrat.com/2016/09/09/general-plan-hearing-held-by-city-council/</u>)

⁵ City of Woodland 2035 General Plan and Climate Action Plan Public Review Draft Environmental Impact Report, prepared for the City of Woodland, September 2016 (State Clearinghouse Number 2013032015). Hereafter referred to in the case study as "DEIR." Available at:

https://www.cityofwoodland.org/DocumentCenter/View/1184/Public-Review-Draft-Environmental-Impact-Report-PDF

⁶ The final General Plan Update was adopted in May 2017.

Another reason for selecting this project as a case study was the opportunity to illustrate transportation impact analysis for a "Program EIR."⁷ Although in theory the contents of a program EIR are the same as those of a project EIR, in practice there are differences in level of detail. As explained in the DEIR (p. 1-1): "Program EIRs contain a more general discussion of impacts, alternatives, and mitigation measures than do project-level EIRs." This is to be expected since the general plan is a long-term guide for development and conservation throughout a city's planning area. It is not possible for a general plan EIR to provide analysis of project-level details that are not yet known for future development projects.

In this case study of Woodland's 2035 General Plan Update, we compare CEQA analysis methods for transportation impacts before and after implementation of SB 743.

City of Woodland planning staff comments

Senior planning staff in Woodland reviewed this case study after its completion and provided useful comments on how the City would likely have approached some key aspects of the case study differently. Those comments are included in this case study in the relevant sections.

(b) Project Details

Location

The City of Woodland is the county seat of Yolo County in California's Sacramento Valley. The City is located approximately 20 miles northwest of Sacramento, 8 miles west of the Sacramento International Airport, and 12 miles north of the city of Davis, at the intersection of Interstate 5 and State Route 113 (see Figure 1).

Like other cities in Yolo County, Woodland has an urban limit line (ULL). The area within the ULL is the Planning Area for the General Plan Update. It includes the City's approximately 9,624 acres (15 square miles) plus a 3,148-acre area outside the City within the unincorporated area of Yolo County.



Figure 1: Woodland General Plan Update project location. (Source: DEIR, p. 3-2.)

Existing conditions in the planning area

The DEIR analyzes impacts of the 2035 General Plan relative to current conditions in March 2013, the date a Notice of Preparation (NOP) was signed by the City of Woodland. At that time, there were

⁷ Program EIRs are described under CEQA statute (PRC § 21000 et seq.) and in the CEQA Guidelines (CCR, Title 14 § 15000 et seq). Guidelines section 15168(a) provides criteria for when an agency should prepare a program EIR rather than a project EIR. The EIR for the 2035 General Plan and Climate Action Plan is a Program EIR.

approximately 55,700 residents, 20,000 housing units, and 26,000 jobs within the City's Planning Area. Vacant and agricultural land each occupied approximately 18 percent of the Planning Area, accounting for more than one-third of the total acreage. Approximately 21 percent of the Planning Area was residential (16.4 percent low density, 3.5 percent medium density, and 1.4 percent high density). Industrial uses occupied about 12 percent, and public and institutional uses such as schools, City buildings, and hospitals accounted for 10 percent of the Planning Area.

Project alternatives

The 2035 General Plan EIR analyzes two alternative ways in which growth and development could occur through the planning horizon year (2035) – an "East Alternative" and a "South Alternative." Both use the same land use diagram (see Figure 2), but offer different approaches regarding the timing, location, and sequence under which the Planning Area could build out through 2035, particularly in terms of greenfield growth in Specific Plan areas.



Figure 2: Land use diagram for 2035 Woodland General Plan Update. (Source: DEIR, p. 3-23.)

The East Alternative introduces new greenfield growth in the east, while the South Alternative continues to concentrate new greenfield growth in the south. The land area in both alternatives is 12,781 acres. Most policies in the 2035 General Plan are the same for both the East and South Alternatives. The only policies that differ between the alternatives are related to phasing of new growth in Specific Plan areas and other issues specific to growth in those areas (DEIR, p. 3-17).

Figure 3 provides an overview of new development and future land use expected under the East and South Alternatives. Both assume approximately 19,300 new residents and 7,000 new housing units by 2035. The South Alternative assumes 16.7 million square feet of new non-residential development, while the East Alternative assumes 17.4 million square feet of new non-residential development.

Table 3.8-1. Summary of Anticipated Growth through General Plan Horizon (2035) ^{1,2}					
	Existing Conditions	Existing Conditions East Alternative		South Alte	ternative)
	(2013)	New Growth	Total (2035)	New Growth	Total (2035)
Population	55,690	19,300	74,990	19,300	74,990
Housing Units	19,980	7,000	26,980	7,000	26,980
Non-Residential Square Footage	19,824,000	17,386,000	37,210,000	16,685,000	36,509,000
Jobs	26,000	19,340	45,340	18,210	44,210
Jobs Housing Ratio	1.30	2.76	1.68	2.60	1.64
To calculate development yields designation. For the Downtown I achievable density of 40 dwelling Use designation (CX) which allow was assumed to account for inst development. For Specific Plan density of 3.0 dwelling acres per Assumptions were made regardin designation under the 2035 Gen development trends. The East Alternative assumes on Source: Dvet & Bhatia 2016	for the Project Alternatives, a dixed Use designation (DX), v punits per acre, a mid-range of vs densities from 20.0 to 40.0 ances when lower density dev reas, a residential density of unit was assumed, ing the percentage of vacant a erail Plan. These percentages by 25 percent of land designal	mid-range density/ which has no specifi density of 30.0 dwel welling units per a elopment may be a 8.0 dwelling units p nd underutilized lan were based on cha ted as SP-2 will dev	ntensity was gener led residential dens ling units per acre acre, a residential d illowed due to proxi er acre was assum id that is expected i racteristics of avail relop by 2035.	ally assumed for ea ity limits and an est was assumed. For tr ensity of 14.0 dwell mity to low density ed, except in SP-10 to develop for each able sites as well as	ch land use Imated maximum he Corridor Mixed ing units per acre residential where a lower land use s City and industry

Figure 3: Assumptions for South and East Alternatives. (Source: DEIR, p. 3-47.)

The DEIR analyzes both the East and South alternatives at an equal level of detail, or "equal weight." The impacts of each alternative are fully evaluated relative to baseline conditions and established significance criteria. The DEIR is structured to allow adoption by the City Council of one of these two alternatives, or some variation, as long as total growth numbers by 2035 do not exceed 7,000 residential units and approximately 17.0 million square feet of non-residential uses (±19,000 jobs), and there are no other substantive inconsistencies with assumptions made in the DEIR.

3. CEQA Analysis

This section compares approaches to a CEQA transportation impact analysis before and after SB 743's implementation. We examine the following three topics of relevance to the Woodland project case study:

- (a) Thresholds of significance (for transportation impacts)
- (b) Transportation impact analysis
- (c) Mitigation measures

(a) Thresholds of Significance

Screening thresholds for transportation impacts

OPR's *Technical Advisory on Transportation Impact Analysis in CEQA* (2018) describes two types of thresholds for assessing transportation impacts: preliminary, or "screening" thresholds and "numeric" thresholds. Many agencies use screening thresholds in the Initial Study phase of the CEQA process to "quickly identify when a project should be expected to cause a less-than-significant impact without conducting a detailed study" (Technical Advisory, p. 12).

In this case study, a screening step was not relevant/applicable (for both the LOS and VMT impact analyses) because it is designed largely for project-level analysis, not a city-wide general plan update.

Numeric thresholds for transportation impacts

LOS thresholds (pre-SB 743)

The DEIR for the Woodland General Plan Update uses criteria from Appendix G in the CEQA Guidelines to set its thresholds of significance for transportation impacts. For the LOS analysis the City used the two thresholds below (although in analyzing and reporting traffic impacts it applied Threshold 1 separately to two different roadway systems: City of Woodland streets and Caltrans facilities). Listed after each threshold are the acceptable LOS standards established by the relevant entities (for more detail see DEIR, pp. 4.13-11 and 4.13-12).

Implementation of the General Plan Update would have a significant adverse impact in terms of traffic if the project met either threshold below:

Threshold 1: "Conflict with an applicable plan, ordinance or policy establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance of the circulation system, taking into account all modes of transportation and relevant components of the circulation system, including but not limited to intersections, streets, highways and freeways, pedestrian and bicycle paths, and mass transit."

- For City of Woodland streets, acceptable LOS is defined by Policy 3.A.2 of the 2002 General Plan, which establishes LOS C or better as acceptable except in the following areas where LOS D is allowed:
 - Within one-half mile of state or federal highways and freeways
 - Within the Downtown Specific Plan area
- For Caltrans facilities, LOS C was identified as the appropriate threshold for I-5 and SR 113 unless the existing (or No Project) condition is LOS D, E, or F, in which case, the threshold would be maintenance of the existing (or No Project) LOS. For SR 16, LOS E was identified as the appropriate significance threshold.

Threshold 2: "Conflict with an applicable congestion management program [CMP], including, but not limited to level of service standards and travel demand measures, or other standards established by the county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways."

- For the CMP network, acceptable LOS is defined by the following thresholds (DEIR, pp. 4.13-11 and 4.13-12).
 - SR 16 from Colusa County to Woodland LOS D
 - I-5 from Colusa County to Sacramento County LOS D except within the City Limits where LOS E applies
 - SR 113 from I-80 to Sutter County LOS D except within the City Limits where LOS C applies
 - East Street from Gibson Road to North City Limits LOS D within ½ mile of a State or Federal highway; otherwise LOS C

- Gibson Road from County Road 98 to County Road 102 LOS D within ½ mile of a State or Federal highway; otherwise LOS C
- Main Street from County Road 102 to West City Limits LOS D within downtown and ½ mile of a State or Federal highway; otherwise LOS C
- County Road 98 from City Limits to City Limits LOS D within ½ mile of a State or Federal highway; otherwise LOS C.
- County Road 102 from City Limits to City Limits LOS D within ½ mile of a State or Federal highway; otherwise LOS C.

VMT thresholds (post-SB 743)

Preparing for the new VMT standard

The 2035 General Plan DEIR was completed before full implementation of SB 743, so VMT thresholds of significance were not yet established for transportation impacts. Nevertheless, anticipating the change ahead, the DEIR discusses SB 743 and notes that VMT will be the preferred CEQA metric for transportation impact analysis going forward (replacing LOS), and that OPR would soon finalize guidance materials. The discussion concludes:

SB 743 did not change the discretion that lead agencies have to select a methodology or define their own significance thresholds, but the guidance being developed by OPR should be carefully considered by lead agencies when they ultimately finalize their own recommended practices. A key factor should be how the lead agency/community values VMT reduction especially with regard to its influence on reducing greenhouse gases, promoting active transportation, and encouraging infill development, all of which, are identified as objectives in the legislative intent of SB 743 (DEIR, pp. 4.13-12 to 4.13-13).

VMT was thus one of several topics that were evaluated in the EIR as part of the impact analysis but were not identified as specific impacts (DEIR, p. 4.13-18).

Additionally, a mitigation strategy was included in the EIR that proposed amending the General Plan with a modified policy providing a more ambitious VMT threshold. The proposed modifications to Policy 3.A.4, "Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT)" would require new development projects to achieve:

- A 10 percent reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to the general plan 2035 VMT performance. or
- A 10 percent reduction in VMT compared to baseline conditions for similar land uses (DEIR, Policy 3.4.A).⁸

To accompany the policy the City proposed a new implementation program whereby it committed to reassessing the VMT reduction goals in Policy 3.A.4 after OPR's final regulations and advisory were in place. That assessment would consider "any substantial State evidence recommending alternative VMT reduction goals as CEQA thresholds" (DEIR, p. 4.13-19).

⁸ The previous proposed policy applied a VMT transportation performance metric threshold of 30 VMT per capita when measuring transportation impacts for subsequent projects and making General Plan consistency findings.

Establishing numeric thresholds for VMT

CEQA gives lead agencies discretion in setting thresholds for the significance of environmental impacts (SB 743 does not change that), although "[c]ompliance with the threshold does not relieve a lead agency of the obligation to consider substantial evidence indicating that the project's environmental effects may still be significant" (CEQA Guidelines, § 15064(b)(2)).

In the case of a general plan, OPR's *Technical Advisory on Transportation Impact Analysis in CEQA* (2018) suggests considering the plan to have a significant impact on the environment if the proposed new residential, office, or retail land uses would in aggregate exceed the respective thresholds recommended in the Technical Advisory. A full transportation impact analysis would thus determine the future VMT resulting from new residential, new retail, and new office development/uses for each alternative.

This case study was limited to the residential portion of the analysis because at the time the analysis was done, the method used to quantify VMT – the UrbanFootprint (UF) transport module – reported only VMT attributed to residents.⁹ Nevertheless, we hope this illustrates an approach that could be applied to each type of trip purpose in order to obtain an aggregate threshold. All trip purposes should be in included in a full VMT analysis.

Household-generated VMT per capita – defined as all trips and their associated VMT attributable to households residing within the project area¹⁰ – was used as the metric for identifying a threshold of significance for the residential component.

For residential VMT, the Technical Advisory (p. 12) recommends a 15% reduction relative to either regional or municipal averages (higher than the 10% VMT reduction the City proposed for the review of new development projects.)

Table 1 shows the calculation of a residential VMT per capita threshold for Woodland in the thencurrent year of 2012 and in 2036, prepared for this case study using the SACSIM model:

Table 1: Calculation of Numeric Threshold for Woodland General Plan	
	VMT Amount
2012 Avg. Household-generated VMT per capita, City of Woodland (from SACSIM)	16.45
2036 Avg. Household-generated VMT per capita, City of Woodland (from SACSIM)	16.33
Threshold VMT (85% of 2012 average above)	13.98
Threshold VMT (85% of 2036 average above)	13.88
Amount of VMT per capita to be mitigated (average minus threshold VMT - 2012)	2.47
Amount of VMT per capita to be mitigated (average minus threshold VMT - 2036)	2.45

⁹ UrbanFootprint now appears to generate total VMT, which could be used to derive non-residential VMT. For a summary of this modeling software see https://urbanfootprint.com/wp-he content/uploads/2019/07/Transportation-Module-Methodology.pdf

¹⁰ Household-generated VMT consists of VMT generated by residents of the region for their travel within the region. It includes vehicle travel for normal commuting, going to school, shopping, and personal business. Household-generated VMT usually comprises about 80 percent of total VMT. Source: Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG) <u>Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy</u>, (MTP/SCS) Final Plan Released February 18, 2016, p. 77.

The numeric threshold for the VMT impact analysis is 85% of the 2012 average, or 13.98 householdgenerated VMT per capita. Note that the 2036 VMT figure in Table 1 is lower than the 2012 figure, meaning average household-generated VMT per capita is expected to decrease over that time.¹¹ The amount of VMT per capita to be mitigated from the proposed general plan would be 2.47 VMT per capita per day measured against the 2012 VMT average or 2.45 VMT per day measured against the 2036 VMT average.

In this case study we selected a VMT threshold of significance (15% reduction from current city VMT averages for residential trips) based on the set of recommendations and supporting analyses prepared and assembled by OPR. Several OPR documents were prepared or finalized after the City had completed and adopted its General Plan update and associated Final EIR.

The City of Woodland considered many of the same documents in the course of preparing its 2035 General Plan Update and 2035 Climate Action Plan, as well as the EIR for both of these policy documents. As mentioned above, the City chose to articulate a VMT threshold of significance for future projects as part of a modified policy in the General Plan Update. The modified policy reads:

Policy 3.A.4: Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT). Require new development projects to achieve a 10 percent reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to the General Plan 2035 VMT performance, or a 10 percent reduction compared to baseline conditions for similar land use when measuring transportation impacts for subsequent projects and making General Plan consistency findings... (Woodland General Plan 2035, pp. TC 3-21 to 3-22).

The question of whether or not a local government can justify a less stringent threshold of significance than what was adopted in the *CEQA Guidelines* (December 2018) implementing SB 743 is one that City planning staff wished to address in this case study. We present their comments here:

City of Woodland staff comments on thresholds of significance for VMT

The policy, legal and technical questions raised by this issue suggest the need for consideration of a jurisdiction's physical, economic and social context as local government plans are updated. For example, the City of Woodland (reflective of many Central Valley agricultural communities) and West Sacramento (a rapidly developing industrial port city) offer divergent ridership profiles and opportunities for transit service.

Within the overall State goal (or regional goals), these community context factors should guide whether and how mitigation thresholds and obligations can be set to account for significant differences in the communities' starting points (in terms of VMT per capita, location relative to employment areas, fixed circulation patterns, etc.) and capacities for mitigation through changes to urban form, availability of transportation choices, etc.

¹¹ For the SACOG region as a whole, household-generated VMT per capita is projected to decrease from 17.9 in 2012 to 17.0 by 2036, a decrease of 5.4 percent. (SACOG's MTP/SCS, February 18, 2016, p. 80).

Even if concluding that local governments lack the discretion to adopt a lower VMT threshold of significance, they may still choose to adopt a statement of overriding consideration to the extent they decide they will not mitigate some or all of the VMT in excess of the threshold or will deploy mitigation to reduce VMT in more walkable areas of the city.

Revisiting the question of an appropriate threshold of significance for VMT was anticipated by the City in its Final EIR for the 2035 General Plan and CAP (January 2017) (hereafter FEIR).¹² In the section titled "Comments and Responses to Comments on the Draft EIR," the City says it "will reconsider its VMT reduction goals" in the future, including "requiring the City to assess the VMT reduction goal contained in Policy 3.A.4 once the State of California adopts final CEQA guidance for SB 743" (FEIR, p. 2-70).

Readers may wish to review Appendix C in this case study containing the City's response to a comment letter on the DEIR from Caltrans recommending that the City consider a significance threshold higher than a 10% reduction from local or regional VMT, in accord with the (then) draft OPR Technical Advisory.

(b) Transportation Impact Analysis

LOS-based impact analysis (CEQA pre-SB 743)

The LOS impact analysis used a modified version of SACOG's regional SACMET travel model to transform the land use and network changes associated with the East and South Alternatives into VMT and traffic volume forecasts. The methodology is described on pp. 4.13-8 to 4.13-10 of the DEIR. The final step in the process compared the p.m. peak hour traffic volume forecasts to roadway segment volume thresholds to assess vehicle LOS on 203 roadway segments, including local City of Woodland streets and Caltrans freeway facilities.¹³

Below are the analysis results for the relevant impact thresholds (which are described in the thresholds section above). The findings take into account 2035 General Plan goals, policies, and implementation programs and 2035 CAP objectives and actions that reduce potential impacts associated with the proposed Project.¹⁴

<u>Impact Threshold 1</u>: [Would the Project] Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service **on City of Woodland Roadways**.

<u>Findings</u>: Implementation of the General Plan Update could cause unacceptable LOS conditions on some roadway segments. The impact was considered significant for the East Alternative¹⁵ but

¹² Available at: <u>https://www.cityofwoodland.org/DocumentCenter/View/1175/2035-General-Plan-and-Climate-Action-Plan-Final-Environmental-Impact-Report-PDF</u>

¹³ In addition to the roadway segment analysis, key intersections in the City were evaluated to assess their p.m. peak hour performance. While such an analysis is more sensitive than the roadway segment analysis, it is largely speculative given the limitations associated with predicting individual turning movement volumes decades into the future, and was thus used for comparison purposes only (DEIR, p. 4.13-10).

¹⁴ Such actions include a policy change to allow for the LOS D and E outcomes, and developing a TDM ordinance.

¹⁵ Proposed project policies would reduce the impact for the East Alternative, but the impact would remain significant without mitigation for one segment (E. Gum Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer Avenue).

less than significant for the South Alternative (DEIR, p. 4.13-13). For details of the analysis see pp. 4.13-13 to 4.13-17 of the DEIR.

<u>Impact Threshold 2</u>: [Would the Project] Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service **on Caltrans Roadways**.

<u>Findings</u>: Implementation of the proposed Project would exacerbate already unacceptable "No Project" LOS D conditions on the I-5 Mainline east of County Road 102 under 2035 conditions. The impact was considered potentially significant under both the East and South Alternatives (DEIR, p. 4.13-20). For details of the analysis see pp. 4.13-20 to 4.13-21 of the DEIR.

<u>Impact Threshold 3</u>: [Would the Project] Conflict with an Applicable Congestion Management Program by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service **on CMP Network Roadways**.

<u>Findings</u>: Implementation of the Proposed Project would cause unacceptable LOS conditions on one Yolo County CMP roadway segment. The impact was considered potentially significant under both the East and South Alternatives (DEIR, p. 4.13-21). For details of the analysis see pp. 4.13-21 to 4.13-22 of the DEIR.

Recommended mitigation measures to reduce these potentially significant impacts to less than significant are discussed in the Mitigation section below.

VMT-based impact analysis (CEQA post-SB 743)

(a) VMT estimates in the 2016 DEIR

VMT estimates are calculated in several places in the Woodland General Plan DEIR. Table 2 below is a composite of three tables showing estimated daily VMT forecasts under four different project scenarios in the City of Woodland's Planning Area.

As the table shows, the proposed Project is expected to result in a total daily VMT of approximately 2,100,000, with some variation in expected total and per capita VMT between the East and South Alternatives.

While these VMT figures were used for such purposes as travel demand estimation, they could not be plugged into our VMT impact analysis for a couple of reasons: First, our analysis considers only household trips (for reasons explained earlier) and only automobile and light truck travel, whereas the figures in the DEIR encompass all types of trips and all types of vehicles. Second, our VMT impact analysis covers a wider area of impact (see next section), whereas these figures apply only to the City's Planning Area (with 50 percent responsibility for trips with only one trip end in the City).

Scenario	VMT ¹	Population ²	Employment ³	VMT/Capita ^₄	VMT/Service Population ⁵
Existing (2013)	1,476,600	45,207	26,694	32.5	20.5
No Project (2035)	1,939,400	58,483	33,929	33.2	21.0
East Alternative (2035)	2,107,500	62,780	42,268	33.6	20.1
South Alternative (2035)	2,092,800	62,953	41,156	33.2	20.1
Cumulative Scenario	2,632,200	75,623	61,745	34.8	19.2

Table 2: City of Woodland Daily VMT Forecasts. (Source: DEIR Tables 4.13-6, 5-19, and 6-8.)

¹ Includes travel from all vehicles. The allocation of VMT includes 100 percent responsibility for all trips with both trips ends in the City of Woodland and 50 percent responsibility for trips with only one trip end in the City.

² Population estimates and forecasts are based on SACMET household size distribution.

³ Employment estimates and forecasts are based on SACMET land use yields.

⁴ VMT per capita is calculated by dividing total daily VMT by population. Since total VMT includes VMT generated by commercial vehicles, visitors, and workers/students who live outside Woodland, it is not an estimate of the VMT 'generated' per capita for Woodland residents.

⁵ VMT Per Service Population is calculated by dividing total daily VMT by population plus employment. Similar to the VMT per capita metric, this form of VMT includes VMT generated by commercial vehicles, visitors, and students that live outside Woodland. As such, it is not an estimate of the VMT 'generated' per service population for Woodland residents and workers.

Source: Fehr & Peers Associates. 2016. Existing Conditions traffic data for the City of Woodland General Plan Update. Woodland, CA.

The DEIR explained that environmental impacts of project-generated VMT, such as air pollution or GHG emissions, are identified in the appropriate chapters of the EIR; and that a separate VMT significance impact threshold had not yet been established for the 2035 General Plan. VMT results are thus simply recognized as the composite outcome of the City's desired land use and transportation network.

That said, the City noted that VMT reductions may be achieved through the implementation of individual development projects as part of 2035 General Plan implementation, and that General Plan Policy 3.A.4 establishes a VMT per capita threshold of 30 for measuring transportation impacts for subsequent projects. The DEIR states:

This value is approximately 10 to 11 percent lower than the projected VMT per capita for the East and South Alternatives and represents the potential to achieve VMT reductions through project design and transportation demand management (TDM) strategies as required under Policy 3.A.5.... Over time, the actual VMT/capita associated with the 2035 General Plan implementation is predicted to trend downward from the results in [Table 2 above] (DEIR, p. 4.13-12).

(b) Area affected by VMT outcomes

OPR advises that with land use plans, just as with projects, "agencies should analyze VMT outcomes across the full area over which the plan may substantively affect travel patterns, including beyond the boundary of the plan or jurisdiction's geography." Also as with projects, "VMT should be counted in full

rather than split between origin and destination,"¹⁶ and lead agencies "should not truncate any VMT analysis because of jurisdictional or other boundaries" (Technical Advisory, p. 6).

(c) Selection of tool

Travel demand models, sketch models, spreadsheet models, research, and data can all be used to calculate and estimate VMT (Technical Advisory, p. 26). As with threshold methods, there are several possible ways to estimate a General Plan project's VMT and other transportation impacts. Regional models, such as SACSIM, can provide data for project-generated VMT. Sketch models can also be used. However, whatever model is used, the methodology should be the same as that used to set the threshold, in order to ensure an "apples-to-apples" comparison. If the SACSIM model is the basis for setting thresholds, then a sketch model could be used to conduct the analysis only if it used the VMT generation rates from SACSIM.

The choice of sketch tool for VMT estimation has a bearing on the VMT metric that can be reported. For this case study, the choice was driven largely by the need to select a comparable metric (city-wide or regional VMT) that can be produced by both a sketch model and SACOG's SACSIM regional travel demand model. The need for a sketch model that can produce city-wide or regional VMT estimates limits lead agencies to a particular subset of sketch tools that cannot produce separate VMT estimates by trip purpose. Moreover, such tools generally report only household-generated VMT.

Table 3: Sketch Tools Grouped by Characteristics				
	Examples ²	VMT by Trip Purpose	Scale	
Trip generation estimates based on removing trips that are not new.	URBEMIS, VMT+	Yes	Site - District	
Statistical models are used to derive reduced estimates for trips based on project and context characteristics.	MXD (EPA/Fehr & Peers), MXD+, Envision Tomorrow MXD	Yes	Site - District	
Statistical models are used to derive reduced estimates for VMT based on project and context characteristics.	Sketch7, Envision Tomorrow HH7D, UrbanFootprint	No	District - Region	
Separate elasticities are used for specific project or context characteristics to derive reduced estimates for VMT.	CalEEMod	Yes	Site - District	

Sketch tools can be broadly grouped into four categories, as shown in Table 3:

..

¹ <u>https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/VMT-Quant-Final-Report-5.22.17.pdf</u>

² This is by no means an exhaustive list, as the number of available VMT sketch tools continues to grow.

While common practice has been to use regional models for analyzing transportation impacts of general plans in order to capture all trip purposes, for this case study we used a sketch model called

¹⁶ Emissions inventories have occasionally split cross-boundary trips in order to sum to a regional total, but CEQA requires accounting for the full impact without truncation or discounting (Technical Advisory, p. 18).

"UrbanFootprint" (UF).¹⁷ Based on a range of built environment and demographic factors, this model estimates household VMT only, which was our focus in this limited analysis. However, a lead agency conducting a full transportation impact analysis should choose a method that offers estimates of total VMT from all trip types.

Another reason we selected UF is that it does not truncate results based on political boundaries. It considers travel behavior of all households within the General Plan Planning Area regardless of where trips start and end. The analyst should note the need to analyze all VMT affected by the land use plan and verify that UF's trip lengths are suitable for the plan under consideration.

(d) Analysis

UF's Transportation Module quantifies a scenario's relationships to a series of "D variables" (density, diversity, design, etc.) using hierarchical models that capture the relationships between the "D" factors and the amount of travel generated by over 230 mixed-use developments of a wide variety of settings and sizes across the US, including the Sacramento region.¹⁸

OPR advises that "whenever possible, agencies should input localized trip lengths into a sketch model to tailor the analysis to the project location," while being careful to "avoid double counting if the sketch model includes other inputs or toggles that are proxies for trip length (e.g., distance to city center)." It also reminds analysists that "trip length data should come from the same source as data used to calculate thresholds to be sure of an 'apples-to-apples' comparison," and that any changes to sketch model defaults should be recorded and reported for transparency of analysis (Technical Advisory, pp. 30-31).

While UF's Transportation Module uses a different approach to estimating trip generation than SACOG's travel demand model, its trip lengths for the Sacramento region are based on the same local travel survey information as SACOG's regional travel demand model – i.e., the 2001 California Household Travel Survey.

Although UF uses locally-specific trip lengths by default, it should be noted that the tool does not currently allow users to set custom trip lengths by trip purpose. Lead agency staff should determine the source of UF's trip lengths for their locality before deciding whether it is an appropriate VMT estimation tool for a particular project. The trip lengths used by UF are listed in Table 4.

Table 4: UrbanFootprint Average Trip Length Assumptions ¹				
District-Based Average Production Trip Length (Miles)				
HBW (Home-Based Work) HBO (Home-Based NHB (Non-Home Total Total				
10.05	3.29	7.13	6.15	

¹ Source: SACMET Regional Travel Demand Model, average for City of Woodland TAZs

 ¹⁷ "UrbanFootprint Technical Documentation: Transportation Analysis," available at: <u>https://urbanfootprint.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Transportation-Module-Methodology.pdf</u>
¹⁸ See https://urbanfootprint.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/UrbanFootprint-Technical-Guide-v2-3.pdf

In addition to identifying local average trip lengths, it is important to perform an additional calibration step to ensure VMT estimates produced by the sketch model are comparable to regional travel model estimates, shown in Table 5.

Table 5: Normalizing Travel Model Estimates

	SACSIM ¹	UrbanFootprint	Scaling Factor
Base Year (2012) Household-Generated VMT per Capita	16.45	22.72	0.72

¹Source: SACOG

Even with localized trip lengths, models use different assumptions and calculation methods, so some variability in outputs should be expected. This is especially true for general plans, community plans, and other long-range planning exercises, as the project area size and development horizon can serve to amplify differences in model outputs. For this reason, it is recommended that base year trip generation and trip length estimates be compared to regional numbers to assure consistency.

Using UF, we modeled VMT for the South and East Alternatives. Modeling assumptions were set based on the growth assumptions listed in sections 3.7.1.1 and 3.7.1.2 of the DEIR, and included both residential and non-residential land use changes. Table 6 displays estimates of the resulting householdgenerated VMT (total and per capita) for the two Alternatives, as well as the base year and no project conditions and the 10% and 15% VMT reduction thresholds.

(CEQA analysis typically requires a comparison of the impact between the base year and the future year with the project, but in some cases it is appropriate to compare future years, with and without the project – or in this case, with or without the implementation of a revised General Plan. Both figures are shown in the table, but for the remainder of this case study, the 13.88 VMT/capita threshold will be used. In any event, the difference between the thresholds 0.1 miles, 524 feet per day, is nominal.)

Table 6: VIVIT Estimates and Thresholds				
	Base Year (2012) ¹	No Project (2036)	South Alternative (2036) ²	East Alternative (2036)
Household-generated VMT	878,101	1,078,368	1,309,915	1,369,662
Population	53,380	66,036	75,033	75,356
Household-generated VMT/capita	16.45	16.33	17.46	18.18
10% VMT/capita reduction threshold proposed by Woodland	14.81	14.70	14.70	14.70
15% VMT/capita reduction threshold used in this case study	13.98	13.88	13.88	13.88

Table 6: VMT Estimates and Thresholds

¹ "Base Year" and "No Project" scenarios based on SACSIM VMT estimates.

² South and East Alternative VMT estimates based on UrbanFootprint modeling with scaling factor applied.

Based on the results of the UrbanFootprint VMT analysis, neither Alternative would meet the numeric VMT per capita threshold selected for this case study - 13.88 measured against 2036 and 13.98

measured against 2012 – nor would either Alternative meet the VMT per capita numeric threshold proposed in the General Plan Update (14.70 measured against 2036 and 14.81 measured against the 2012 baseline). Both Alternatives, South and East, would result in significant transportation impacts without mitigation.

(c) Mitigation Measures

LOS mitigation (CEQA pre-SB 743)

As described in the LOS impact analysis section above, significant impacts from the project were identified for the three impact thresholds relevant to this case study. The following mitigation measures were applied (DEIR, pp. 4.13-17 to 4.13-21):

Mitigation Measures for Impact Threshold 1

Impact Threshold 1: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service on **City of Woodland Roadways.** (Note: bolded text indicates the only difference between Thresholds 1 and 2.)

In the previous section we reported that for City of Woodland roadways, only the East Alternative was found to have significant impacts in need of mitigation. The following mitigation options were applied to the East Alternative in the DEIR (pp. 4.13-17 and 4.13-18):

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a:

The Draft General Plan should be amended to include the following modification of the East Alternative Circulation Diagram: Include E. Gum Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer Avenue as a 2-lane minor arterial... in the East Alternative Circulation Diagram. This action would result in potential physical changes to the roadway under this classification that may include access control and minor turn-lane widening at intersections. Under this classification, the LOS would be improved to LOS C and the impact would be less than significant with mitigation.

OR

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1b:

The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following modified policy:

Policy 3.A.1 Vehicle Level of Service (LOS) Standard. Strive to develop and manage the roadway system to maintain LOS D or better as defined in the latest edition of the Highway Capacity Manual with the following exceptions described below... [Note: only the portion with modified text (underlined) is shown here]:

B. LOS E – Freeway ramp terminal intersections <u>and E. Gum Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer</u> <u>Avenue.</u>

This action would recognize that potential physical changes to this section of E. Gum Avenue to increase its capacity are not desirable due to access or right-of-way impacts on adjacent properties or the environment. The impact would be less than significant with mitigation.

AND

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1c:

The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following modified policy and new implementation program. [Note: modified text is indicated below with underscore or strike-out]*:*

Policy 3.A.4 Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) <u>Require new development projects to achieve</u> <u>a 10 percent reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to the general</u> <u>plan 2035 VMT performance, or a 10 percent reduction compared to baseline conditions for</u> <u>similar land uses</u> Apply a VMT transportation performance metric threshold of 30 VMT per capita when measuring transportation impacts for subsequent projects and making General Plan consistency findings. <u>Reducing peak period VMT in particular is desirable due to the added</u> <u>benefit of minimizing severe congestion and reducing emissions. Use of VMT reduction strategies</u> <u>such as those in Chart 6-2 below taken from Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Measures,</u> <u>CAPCOA, 2010 or similar professional research documents is encouraged.</u>

Implementation Program 3.8 After final adoption of SB 743 CEQA Guidelines changes and any associated technical advisory recommendations by the State of California, the City will assess the VMT reduction goal contained in Policy 3.A.4. The assessment should consider substantial evidence presented by the State in recommending any alternative VMT reduction goals as CEQA thresholds plus the community values expressed by the goals and policies. The City should strive to set thresholds consistent with the City's envisioned future while striving to achieve reasonable reductions in vehicle travel that produce air pollution and greenhouse gases.

This action would strengthen the policy's influence on reducing vehicle travel associated with new development projects, helping to reduce p.m. peak hour traffic volumes. The impact would be less than significant with mitigation.

Summary of Impact after Mitigation

- a. East Alternative the impact would be less than significant with mitigation.
- b. South Alternative no mitigation was required for the South Alternative.

Mitigation Measures for Impact Threshold 2

Impact Threshold 2: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service on **Caltrans Roadways** (bolded text indicates the only difference between Thresholds 1 and 2).

In the previous section we reported that implementation of the Proposed Project would exacerbate already unacceptable "No Project" LOS D conditions on one freeway segment (the I-5 Mainline east of County Road 102) under 2035 conditions. The impact was considered potentially significant in both the East and South Alternatives. The following mitigation measure was applied (DEIR, p. 4.13-21):

Mitigation Measure 4.13-2:

Implement Mitigation Measure 4.13-1b [see above]. *This action would strengthen the policy's influence on reducing vehicle travel associated with new development projects helping to reduce p.m. peak hour traffic volumes.*

Summary of Impact after Mitigation

a. East Alternative – the impact was considered less than significant with mitigation.

b. South Alternative – the impact was considered less than significant with mitigation.

Mitigation Measures for Impact Threshold 3

Impact Threshold 3: Conflict with an Applicable Congestion Management Program by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of Service on CMP Network Roadways.

In the previous section we reported that implementation of the proposed Project would cause unacceptable LOS conditions on one CMP roadway segment in both the East and South Alternatives. The impact was considered potentially significant, and the following mitigation measures were applied (DEIR, p. 4.13-21).

Mitigation Measure 4.13-3a:

Implement Mitigation Measure 4.13-1b [see above]. *This action would strengthen the policy's influence on reducing vehicle travel associated with new development projects.*

OR

Mitigation Measure 4.13-3b:

The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following modification of the circulation diagram.

East Alternative Circulation Diagram: <u>Include County Road 102 from E. Gibson Road to Farmers</u> <u>Central Road as a 4-lane principal arterial</u>.

This action would result in a physical capacity expansion to the roadway under this classification that would improve the LOS to C or better.

Summary of Impact after Mitigation

a. East Alternative - the impact was considered less than significant with mitigation.

b. South Alternative – the impact was considered less than significant with mitigation.

VMT mitigation (CEQA post-SB 743)

As summarized in Table 7 (which draws from Table 6), the VMT in both proposed project alternatives would have a significant transportation impact before mitigation, given the significance threshold selected for this case study.

Table 7: VMT Estimates Compared with Numeric Threshold

	South Alternative (2036)	East Alternative (2036)
Household-generated VMT per capita ¹	17.46	18.18
Threshold VMT (85% of Household VMT per capita in 2036; 15% reduction) ²	13.88	13.88
Significant impact? (Exceeds threshold?)	Yes	Yes
Amount to be mitigated (in VMT per capita)	3.58	4.30

¹ Estimates from UrbanSim scenarios

²Based on 2036 SACSIM estimates for the City of Woodland.

To demonstrate the impact of mitigation for the City of Woodland EIR, the lead agency would need to select mitigation strategies that, among other criteria, a) are capable of being modeled by a VMT estimation model that can produce results comparable to the pre-mitigation analysis; or b) have the resulting reductions in travel demand documented in credible peer-reviewed research.

For the selected metric – household-generated VMT per capita – two mitigation scenarios were modeled using UrbanFootprint. Both scenarios address a key determinant of travel behavior and are based off the South Alternative, the better performing of the two alternatives modeled in the previous section. Each mitigation alternative is described below.

Mitigation Scenario 1 – Increased Density:

Mitigation Scenario 1 explores the potential for a higher density build-out of Specific Plan Area 1 (SP 1) in the South Alternative. Rather than building out the South Alternative using densities specified in the General Plan, this scenario meets the same control totals, but with significantly less land consumption. As Table 8 below shows, the increased density alternative roughly doubles the percentage of multifamily dwelling units in the South Alternative.

Table 8. Percentage of Dwenning Onits by Type (Source: OrbanFootprint)				
	South Alternative (2036)	South Alternative with Increased Density (2036)		
Large lot detached single-family	33%	32%		
Small lot detached single-family	38%	15%		
Attached single-family	6%	8%		
All multi-family	23%	44%		
Total	100%	99%		

Table 8: Percentage of Dwelling Units by Type (Source: UrbanFootprint)

Mitigation Scenario 2 – Increased Infill:

The second mitigation scenario sought to spread more housing and employment growth in existing developed areas of the City of Woodland. This scenario puts less growth in Specific Plan Area 1 (SP-1) in favor of smaller, more dispersed development opportunities throughout the City. The intent with this scenario was to gauge the VMT impacts associated with less greenfield development at the urban edge. Figure 4 below shows how the "increased density" and "increased infill" mitigation scenarios compare

to one another spatially. Note the relative differences in the concentration of new population in each scenario.



Figure 4: Population per acre associated with new development in the "Increased Density" Mitigation Scenario (left) and "Increased Infill" Mitigation Scenario (right). (Source: UrbanFootprint.)

VMT estimates from the "increased density" and "increased infill" mitigation scenarios are summarized in Table 9 below. Because of the city-wide mitigation measures tested, both scenarios result in lower household-generated VMT per capita than the numeric threshold identified in this case study. As a result, a recommendation of amending the City of Woodland's General Plan to implement either of these two strategies would result in a less than significant transportation impact with mitigation.

Table 9: Mitigation VMT Estimates					
	85% of 2036 Household VMT per Capita (Threshold) ¹	Increased Infill Mitigation Alternative (2036) ²	Increased Density Mitigation Alternative (2036)		
Household-Generated VMT	923,183	973,649	944,991		
Population	66,036	74,701	74,448		
Household-Generated VMT/Capita	13.88	13.03	12.69		

¹ Based on 2036 SACSIM estimates for Woodland

² Mitigation alternative VMT estimates based on UrbanFootprint modeling with scaling factor applied

City of Woodland staff comments on case study mitigation strategies

Given the limitations of time and funding and the particular specialty of the analyst, we were able to explore only two alternatives for VMT mitigation in this case study: changing the density and changing the locations of new residential development.

However, City of Woodland planning staff said they would have liked the case study to have examined other, perhaps more likely mitigation strategies, "rather than revisiting the often contentious issues of the density and location of new development, which were addressed and settled in the 2035 General Plan update."

Along those lines, the final 2035 General Plan, adopted May 2017, contains a chart on p. 3-22 of VMT reduction measures and their corresponding efficacies (originally published in a 2010 CAPCOA report¹⁹ hereafter referred to as "CAPCOA 2010"). Some of these measures will likely be considered by the City when it re-examines its VMT mitigation threshold and strategies under the new CEQA Guidelines.

Example measures are listed below with their estimated percentage VMT reduction (in parentheses) and CAPCOA 2010 report page reference for further details:

- Transit Fare Subsidy (20% work VMT) especially for commutes to Davis (for details see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 230-233).
- Workplace Parking Pricing (19.7% work VMT) see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 261-265.
- Employer Sponsored Vanpools/Shuttles (13.4% work VMT) see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 253-255.
- Employee Parking Cash-out (7.7% work VMT) see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 266-269.
- On-street Market Pricing (5.5%) see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 213-216. Note: Woodland does not yet charge public parking fees.
- Pedestrian Network Improvements (1% to 2% See CAPCOA 2010, pp. 186-189; includes master planning with shorter blocks lengths to promote walkability.)
- Transit Accessibility improvements (25%) this could include Woodland's discussions with the Transit District around the testing and deployment of micro-transit and other means of improving ridership and service. (See CAPCOA 2010, pp. 275-285).
- Pedestrian Network Improvements (2%) includes master planning with shorter blocks lengths to promote walkability (for details see CAPCOA 2010, pp. 186-189).
- Bicycle Network Improvements (no estimated % reduction provided) examples include bike lanes, bike parking, and land dedication for trails.

City staff also commented that an online VMT calculator "would be exceptionally helpful as we consider how to evaluate VMT on a regular basis, determine impacts, and assess possible offsets." One such tool

¹⁹ California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA), Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Measures, August 2010 (see Chart 6-2, p. 55). Found online at <u>http://www.capcoa.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2010/11/CAPCOA-Quantification-Report-9-14-Final.pdf</u>. Ron Milam at Fehr & Peers, who contributed to this SB 743 Implementation Assistance Project, and his colleague Jason Pack, PE, prepared a memo for several MPOs in February 2019 updating the research results compiled in the CAPCAO 2010 document. Their memo can be found here: <u>http://www.fehrandpeers.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/TDM-Strategies-Evaluation.pdf</u>.

that has since been developed²⁰ estimates the VMT induced annually from adding lane miles to roadways managed by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans).

Since it is not likely that the measures suggested above can be easily implemented to provide significant results, the City is interested in the possibility of developing a VMT offset fee, and staff expressed hope that any modeling proposed in this case study analysis might be useful toward a future impact fee assessment.

According to City staff, VMT offset fees would be utilized in new development areas, such as the area shown as SP-1A in the General Plan, and the offset funds would be used to further incentivize infill development along Woodland's major corridors and in the downtown.

The staff identified several challenges the City will likely face in implementing VMT mitigation strategies:

- Difficulty in understanding how to transition to use of VMT in the normal course of review without resulting in expensive costs to development to analyze on a case-by-case basis.
- Difficulty in understanding how to calculate VMT, and identifying appropriate and logical mitigations for a suburban community developed in a low-density pattern.
- How to apply a VMT analysis to newly developing greenfield areas so that they are not penalized by surrounding low density suburban development even if the new development pattern is a mixed-use jobs/housing project.

City staff also expressed interest in exploring the concept of VMT offset exchange transactions, a concept developed in the course of this SB 743 Implementation Assistance project.

4. Insights and Policy Implications

(a) Implications for Policy Makers

This case study shows that changes to land use density, design, and distance of development to transit can be effective for general plan VMT mitigation, even in communities that may have a number of residents commuting to job centers in other cities or metropolitan areas.

The city commentary on the case study also illustrates that increasing density as a mitigation strategy remains a politically sensitive issue in many communities. In those communities, elected officials should encourage their staff and citizen advisory boards and commissions to consider a long menu of VMT mitigation actions at the outset, and from that menu develop a mix of responses that is both effective and best fits community goals and concerns.

²⁰ Jamey Volker, who contributed to this project as an attorney and a PhD candidate in the Transportation Technology and Policy program at the University of California, Davis, helped develop a web-based VMT estimator found here: <u>https://blinktag.com/induced-travel-calculator</u>. The tool is presented in this webinar, organized by the Institute of Transportation Studies at UC Davis: <u>https://its.ucdavis.edu/webinar/a-new-web-tool-to-calculateinduced-travel.</u>

Workshops and papers generated by this project described the legal and administrative precedents for regional approaches that may be preferable to project level or local VMT mitigation strategies. Regional approaches include tiering approaches (an established practice in CEQA), regional planning, and creating a regional mitigation bank. In lieu fees have also "been found to be valid mitigation where there is both a commitment to pay fees and evidence that mitigation will actually occur" (Technical Advisory, p. 27).

Another approach, developed in the course of this case study, is the concept of VMT mitigation offset exchanges, a form of market approach with parallels to both carbon trading and the transfer of development rights. Video and slide presentations on this concept are available on the project website at <u>www.SB743.org</u>.²¹

(b) Technical Insights for Lead Agency Staff

Consistency in modeling for thresholds, impacts and mitigation

The choice of sketch tool or regional travel demand model should be made based on its ability to produce a VMT metric comparable to those produced by the tool used to establish the numeric threshold. If a regional model is used to set the numeric threshold, then any sketch tools for project analysis should use the VMT generation rates produced by that model. And the analyses of mitigation strategies should also be consistent with the modeling used for the threshold and estimation.

Integrating RTP/SCS and VMT target consistency into general plan updates

CEQA guidance describes land use plans as guiding documents for subsequent projects. For general plans, this means that land use and transportation projects implementing the plan should be able to look to significance thresholds and screening criteria in the plan for guidance. The City of Woodland's General Plan EIR provides such an example with its VMT/capita threshold for land use projects.

Context-sensitive thresholds

The lead agency should work in conjunction with the local MPO, where one exists, as well as CEQA practitioners and others to identify appropriate thresholds of significance for VMT. For a city like Woodland, located near a regional boundary, this may involve deviating from regional average VMT in favor of a threshold that recognizes its particular location within the SACOG region.

Extra-regional travel estimation and mitigation

SB 743 compliance for general plans requires looking at transportation impacts beyond jurisdictional boundaries, and outside regional boundaries and regional travel models. MPO staff should be consulted regarding methods for assessing travel outside the region. An analysis using a worker flow matrix, as well as household or worker travel surveys, the Caltrans statewide travel demand model, or mobile device data can be helpful in estimating extra-regional travel. Extra-regional travel mitigation may also prompt thinking about inter-regional cooperation on mitigation strategies.

²¹ See also Elkind, Lamm and Prather, "An Analysis of Vehicle Miles Traveled Banking and Exchange Frameworks," published by the Center for Law, Energy and the Environment and the Institute for Transportation Studies at UC Berkeley (October 2018).

Mitigation measures

VMT mitigation measures are sometimes difficult to model for smaller projects, since their effectiveness is often site or building and tenant specific. Sketch tools focused on TDM mitigation may be better at the project scale. At the scale of a general plan, city-wide VMT mitigation strategies such as land use, transit service, parking polices and others are best applied.

Appendix A: Project Participants

LEADERSHIP TEAM

Alyssa Begley	SB 743 Implementation Program Manager, Caltrans
Chris Calfee	Deputy Secretary and Chief Counsel, California Natural Resources Agency
Andy Chesley	Executive Director, San Joaquin Council of Governments
Coleen Clementson	Principal Planner, San Diego Association of Governments
James Corless	Executive Director, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Chris Ganson	Senior Planner, California Governor's Office of Planning & Research
Hasan Ikhrata	Executive Director, Southern California Association of Governments
Jeannie Lee	Senior Counsel, California Governor's Office of Planning & Research
Robert Liberty	Director, Urban Sustainability Accelerator, Portland State University
Rebecca Long	Manager, Government Relations, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Mike McKeever	CEO, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Lynn Peterson	Transportation Consultant
Kate White	Dep. Sec. Envir. Policy & Housing Coord., California State Transportation Agency

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Ping Chang	Mngr. Compliance & Performance Monitoring, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Gov'ts.
Rob Cunningham	Senior Regional Planner, San Joaquin Council of Governments
Rick Curry	Mngr, Transp. Analysis & Applications, San Diego Association of Governments
Chris Ganson	Senior Planner, California Governor's Office of Planning & Research
Gordon Garry	Dir. Research & Analysis, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Bruce Griesenbeck	Data Modeling Manager, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Jennifer Heichel	Environmental Management Office Chief, Caltrans
Amy Lee	Planner & Research Analyst, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Huasha Liu	Dir. Land Use & Environ. Planning, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
Andrew Martin	Senior Regional Planner, San Diego Association of Governments
Ron Milam	Director of Technical Development, Fehr & Peers Transportation Consultants
Neil Peacock	Senior Environmental Planner, California Dept. of Transportation (Caltrans)
Sam Seskin	Transportation Consultant
Mark Shorett	Senior Regional Planner, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Krute Singa	Climate Program Manager, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Tanisha Taylor	Dir. Sustainability Planning & Policy, California Assoc. of Councils of Gov't.
Jamey Volker	Legal & Transportation Consultant/Researcher
Lisa Zorn	Senior Planner, Metropolitan Transportation Commission

LEGAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Jeannie Lee	Governor's Office of Planning and Research
Ethan Elkind	Dual Faculty Appointment, UC Berkeley and UCLA Schools of Law
Nicole Gordon	Sohagi Law Group
Andrea Ruiz-Esquide	Deputy City Attorney, San Francisco City Attorney's Office
Jamey Volker	Counsel, Volker Law Offices, and PhD Candidate, UC Davis

OTHER PARTICIPANTS

Leadership

Brian Annis	Secretary, California State Transportation Agency
Darin Chidsey	Chief Operating Officer, Southern California Association of Governments
Garry Gallegos	Executive Director, San Diego Association of Governments
Steve Heminger	Executive Director, Metropolitan Transportation Commission

Policy, Planning

Kome Ajise	Transportation Planning Director, Southern Calif. Association of Governments
Kim Anderson	Senior Regional Planner, San Joaquin Council of Governments
Tracey Frost	Chief, Office of Smart Mobility & Climate Change, Caltrans
Mike Gainor	Senior Regional Planner, Southern California Association of Governments
Ellen Greenberg	Deputy Director for Sustainability, Caltrans
Jeremy Ketchum	Assistant Division Chief, Caltrans
Kacey Lizon	Deputy Executive Director, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Lijin Sun	Senior Regional Planner, Southern California Association of Governments
Therese Trivedi	Assistant Planning Director, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Kirk Trost	Senior Advisor/General Counsel, Sacramento Area Council of Governments

Modeling, Analysis, Research

Anita Au	Land Use & Environmental Planning, Southern California Assoc of Governments
Mike Calandra	Senior Transportation Modeler, San Diego Association of Governments
Hao Cheng	Land Use & Environmental Planning, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
Clint Daniels	Principal Research Analyst, San Diego Association of Governments
Hui Deng	Land Use & Environmental Planning, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
Doug Johnson	Principal, Land Use & Transp. Integ., Metropolitan Transp. Commission
Susan Handy	Director, Sustainable Transportation Center, UC Davis
Katie Hentrich	Regional Energy/Climate Planner, San Diego Association of Governments
Hsi-Hwa Hu	Land Use & Environmental Planning, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
Guoxiong Huang	Manager, Modeling & Forecasting, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
David Ory	Former Prin., Lead Travel Demand Modeler, Metropolitan Transp. Commission
Mana Sangkapichai	Land Use & Environmental Planning, Southern Calif. Assoc. of Governments
Kearey Smith	Senior, Lead GIS, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Alex Steinberger	Project Manager, Fregonese Associates
Daniel Tran	Assoc. Regional Planner, Southern Calif. Association of Governments
Jung A Uhm	Scenario Planning Models, Southern California Association of Governments
Dave Vautin	Senior Planner/Analyst, Metropolitan Transportation Commission

Administrative Assistance

Cathy Alvarado	Senior Admin. Assistant, Southern California Association of Governments
Carol Berkeley	Executive Assistant to Kate White, California State Transportation Agency
Heather Lockey	Admin. Assistant to Chris Calfee, California Natural Resources Agency
Steven Moreno	Assistant to Kate White, California State Transportation Agency

Greg Chew	Senior Planner, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Lanette Espinoza	Clerk of the Board/Executive Assistant, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Elena Fong	Executive Assistant to Mike McKeever, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Rene Garcia	Assistant to James Corless, Sacramento Area Council of Governments
Sarah Miller	Assistant to Darren Chidsey, Southern California Association of Governments
Rosy Leyva	Assistant to Steve Heminger, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Judy Owens	Assistant to Hasan Ikhrata, Southern California Association of Governments
Carmen Summers	Senior Admin. Assistant, Southern California Association of Governments
Judy Walton	Program Admin, Urban Sustainability Accelerator, Portland State University

Continuing Education Program and Workshops

Mike Bagheri	Transportation Manager, City of Pasadena
Devon Deming	Director of Commute Services, LA Metro
Ramses Madou	Division Mgr Planning, Policy & Sustainability, Dept of Transportation, San Jose
Ethan Elkind	Director, Center for Law, Energy & Environment, UC Berkeley Law School
Rubina Ghazarian	Mobility Planner, City of Los Angeles
Tomas Hernandez	Santa Barbara Transit Coordinator, CalVans
Ron Hughes	Director, CalVans
Joshua Karlin-Resnick	Transportation Manager, Nelson Nygaard
Ted Lamm	Research Fellow, Center for Law, Energy & Environment, UC Berkeley Law School
Karina Macias	Transportation Manager, City of Los Angeles
Steve Raney	Smart Mobility, Joint Venture Silicon Valley
Tyson Sohagi	Partner, Sohagi Law Group, Los Angeles
David Sommers	Supervising Transportation Planner, City of Los Angeles
Robert Swierk	Principal Transportation Planner, Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority
Jeffrey Tumlin	Principal & Director of Strategy, Nelson Nygaard

TransitCenter

Zak Accuardi	Senior Program Associate
David Bragdon	Executive Director
Steve Higashide	Director of Research

Appendix B: Glossary of Terms and Acronyms Used in Case Studies

CalEEMod – California Emissions Estimator Model.

Caltrans - California Department of Transportation.

CAPCOA – California Air Pollution Control Officers Association.

CARB – California Air Resources Board.

CEQA – California Environmental Quality Act.

CMP – Congestion Management Program. The California state CMP requires urbanized counties to prepare their own CMPs in order to receive their share of gas tax revenue.

CRC – California Code of Regulations, which contains the CEQA Guidelines.

CSTDM – California Statewide Travel Demand Model.

DEIR – Draft Environmental Impact Report.

EIR – Environmental Impact Report.

HOV – High Occupancy Vehicle.

HQTA – High-Quality Transit Area. While not defined in statute, the term is used by some MPOs for mapping purposes, and is generally based on definitions of "major transit stop" and "high quality transit corridor" in the State Public Resources Code (specifically the section implementing SB 375, the Sustainable Communities Strategy). SCAG, for example, defines an HQTA for mapping purposes as "the area within one-half mile from major transit stops and high quality transit corridors."

HQTC– High Quality Transit Corridor, defined in CEQA as a corridor with fixed route bus service with service intervals of 15 minutes or less during peak commute hours.

Infill Site – defined in CEQA as a lot located within an urban area that has been previously developed, or on a vacant site where at least 75% of the perimeter of the site adjoins, or is separated only by an improved public right-of-way from parcels that are developed with qualified urban uses.

LOS – Level of Service, a standard for measuring vehicle delay, initially designed as a performance standard for highways. It is sometimes described as a ratio between the volume of vehicles and the capacity of a roadway. LOS standards in the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) and AASHTO Geometric Design of Highways and Streets ("Green Book") use letters A through F, with A being the best and F the worst. LOS "A" describes free flow and "F" describes stop-and-go movement and gridlock.

Low-VMT Area – an area that exhibits VMT below the designated numeric threshold. For residential projects, this includes areas such as transportation analysis zones, or TAZs, that exhibit average VMT per capita less than or equal to 85% of existing city or regional household VMT per capita (Technical Advisory, p. 12).

Major Transit Stop – a site containing an existing rail station, a ferry terminal served by either a bus or rail transit service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a frequency of service

intervals of 15 minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods (PRC § 21064.3). Major transit stops may be included in a regional transportation plan.

MPO – Metropolitan Planning Organization. Federal law requires that any urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000 be guided and maintained by a regional entity known as a metropolitan planning organization. SB 375 details specific roles for California MPOs, expanding their role in regional planning. Eighteen MPOs are designated in California, accounting for approximately 98% of the state's population.

OPR – California Governor's Office of Planning and Research.

PRC – Public Resources Code for the state of California, which contains the CEQA statutes.

RTP – Regional Transportation Plan. A long-term blueprint of a region's transportation system, which identifies and analyzes transportation needs of the metropolitan region and creates a framework for project priorities. Usually RTPs are conducted every five years and plan for thirty years into the future. They are normally the product of recommendations put forth and studies carried out by an MPO, with the participation of dozens of transportation and infrastructure specialists.

SACOG – Sacramento Area Council of Governments, one of the largest MPOs in California.

SACSIM – Sacramento Activity-Based Travel Simulation model, used for regional travel forecasting.

SANBAG – San Bernardino Associated Governments. SANBAG (or "SanBAG") was the regional transportation planning agency and MPO for San Bernardino County, and the funding agency for the county's transit systems. In January 2017, SANBAG split into the San Bernardino County Transportation Authority (SBCTA) and the San Bernardino Council of Governments (SBCOG).

SB 375 – California Senate Bill 375, the "Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act of 2008," which is an effort to reduce greenhouse gases by requiring each MPO to develop a "Sustainable Communities Strategy" that integrates transportation, land-use and housing policies to plan for achievement of the greenhouse gas emissions target for their region.

SB 743 – California Senate Bill 743, passed in 2013 – the subject of these case studies.

SCAG – Southern California Association of Governments, the MPO for six of the ten counties in Southern California (Imperial, Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, and Ventura). It is the largest MPO in the country, representing over 18.5 million people in an area covering over 38,000 square miles.

SCS – Sustainable Communities Strategy, required by SB 375.

TA – Technical Advisory. OPR publishes a series of these advisories on CEQA-related aspects.

TAZ – Traffic Analysis Zone (or "Transportation Analysis Zone"), the unit of geography most commonly used in transportation planning models. The population of a zone varies, but a zone of under 3,000 people is common for a typical metropolitan planning software. The spatial extent also varies, ranging from very large areas in an exurb to a few city blocks or buildings in a central business district.

TIP – Transportation Improvement Program.

TPA – Transit Priority Area. An area within one-half mile of a major transit stop that is existing or planned, if the planned stop is scheduled to be completed within the planning horizon included in a Transportation Improvement Program adopted pursuant to sections 450.216 and 450.322 of Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations (PRC § 21099(a)(7)).

TPP – Transit Priority Project. A TPP meets these specifications: (1) contains at least 50 percent residential use, based on total building square footage and, if the project contains between 26% and 50% nonresidential uses, a floor area ratio of not less than 0.75; (2) provides a minimum net density of at least 20 dwelling units per acres; and (3) is within one-half mile of a major transit stop or high-quality transit corridor included in a regional transportation plan (PRC § 21155(b)).

URBEMIS – URBan EMISsions model, used for quantifying emissions from land use projects.

VMT – Vehicle Miles Traveled, which as a result of SB 743 replaces LOS as the metric for measuring transportation impact under CEQA.

Appendix C: Response to Caltrans Comment on Proposed VMT Targets in DEIR

Excerpts below are taken from *"Chapter 2: Comments and Responses to Comments on the Draft EIR"* in the *City of Woodland 2035 General Plan and Climate Action Plan: Final Environmental Impact Report* (January 2017), State Clearinghouse Number 2013032015.

Section. 2.23: COMMENT LETTER #11

Eric Fredericks, Chief, Office of Transportation Planning South Branch (Nov. 3, 2016).

Paragraph 11-4 of Comment Letter (p. 2-69):

Caltrans supports a VMT reduction threshold more stringent than 10%, which is consistent with OPR's current technical advisory. We do note, however, that the Lead Agency has full discretion ot set its own significance thresholds. As identified by Table 4.13-6 of the EIR, the East Alternative would have 33.6 VMT per capita, and the South Alternative would have 33.2 VMT per capita. Both alternatives have VMT rates higher than the existing 32.7 VMT per capita for the City. The City has nearly double the VMT per capita compared to the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG) regional average of 16.8. We anticipate many of the City's residents will need to commute to employment centers in Davis and Sacramento, resulting in the high rate of VMT per capita. One potential strategy to reduce VMT is to provide additional public transit service from Woodland to Davis and Sacramento.

Section 2.24: RESPONSE TO COMMENT LETTER #11

City of Woodland Staff

Comment 11-4 of Responses (pp. 2-70, 2-71)

The commenter expresses support for a more stringent VMT reduction threshold than 10 percent but notes that lead agencies have discretion on setting this threshold. The commenter also notes that the VMT per capita for both alternatives is higher than the existing VMT per capita for the City and as compared to the Sacramento Area Council of Governments regional average. The commenter anticipates that many City residents will commute to their jobs, which would result in the high rate of VMT per capita and that one strategy to reduce VMT is to provide additional public transit service.

Response: This comment does not relate to the adequacy of the Draft EIR for addressing potential impact associated with the Proposed Project.

The City agrees with the commenter that lead agencies have discretion to exercise judgement in relation to VMT policies. The current VMT reduction goal considered the OPR recommended VMT threshold for residential and office projects contained in the Revised Proposal on Updates to the CEQA Guidelines on Evaluating Transportation Impacts in CEQA Implementing Senate Bill 743 (Steinberg, 2013), January 20, 2016, OPR. The 'draft' guidance from OPR recommends a per-capita VMT threshold of 15 percent below the existing (baseline) citywide or regional value depending on the specific land use. One justification for this particular threshold was based on analysis contained in Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Measures, California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA), 2010 that indicates a 15

reduction in VMT per capita is achievable in suburban 2035 General Plan and CAP Final EIR AECOM City of Woodland 2-71 Comments and Responses to Comments on the Draft EIR areas. This reduction is the 'maximum' feasible reduction in a suburban area and the CAPCOA document acknowledges that limited empirical evidence exists to support this value. The document also explains that achieving maximum reductions in suburban areas requires projects to include a diverse land use mix, workforce housing, and project-specific transit. This will not always be possible for all future land use projects in Woodland, especially in the City's industrial area or when a project only includes a single land use. The 10 percent reduction goal as recommended in Mitigation 4.13-2 considers the local land use and transportation context in Woodland.

As to the differences in Woodland and SACOG VMT per capita estimates, a direct comparison is not appropriate. The Woodland VMT per capita estimates in Table 4.13-6 of the Draft EIR (as documented in footnote 1 to the table) includes travel from all vehicles based on an allocation of VMT that includes 100 percent responsibility for all trips with both trips ends in the City of Woodland and 50 percent responsibility for trips with only one trip in the City. The estimate of a regional average of 16.8 VMT per capita is similar to the household generated VMT per capita for the region contained in Table 16.10 of the SACOG MTP/SCS 2016 Draft Environmental Impact Report. If the cited figure is in fact from the MTP/SCS, this would only represents a portion of total VMT for the region excluding commercial and external trips that are included in the Woodland estimate in Table 4.13-6. The estimate presented for the General Plan alternatives includes not just household generated VMT, but all VMT, so it is not unexpected that it would be higher than a VMT estimate that includes household generated VMT only.

The City will consider expanded transit service in coordination with Yolo County Transportation District (YCTD) as a potential VMT reduction strategy as part of new development review and citywide planning efforts. The specific service expansion and timing will be subject to implementation feasibility and cost effectiveness.